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Opinion

RULING ON THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO
DISMISS

According to the complaint, the defendant is engaged in
the “highly competitive” business of providing office
cleaning services. The plaintiff is one of the defendant’s
business competitors. It is also alleged that the defendant
knowingly hires “illegal and/or undocumented workers
and pays them wages that are significantly below the
industry standard” and employs “illegal aliens” after the
termination of their work authorization periods.
According to the complaint, these practices enable the
defendant to underbid its competitors, including the
plaintiff. The complaint also alleges that the defendant
was sued by the U.S. Immigration & Naturalization
Service (“INS”) for this conduct and in 1996 paid a
substantial fine to the INS to resolve that enforcement
action. The complaint also alleges the existence of a
racketeering enterprise comprised of the defendant and
“temporary and permanent employment placement
services, labor contractors, employment recruiters,
newspapers (where it advertises for laborers) and various
immigrant networks that assist fellow immigrants in
obtaining employment, housing and illegal work
permits.”2
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DRONEY, J.

Introduction
*1 The one count putative class action complaint in this
case seeks damages for violation of the Racketeering
Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act (hereinafter
“RICO”), codified at 18 U.S.C. § 1961, et seq. The
complaint alleges that the defendant, which is in the
business of cleaning office buildings, has engaged in a
pattern of racketeering activity by “hiring hundreds of
illegal immigrants at low wages in order to give it an
unfair advantage over its competitors.” The complaint
also alleges that this activity harms the plaintiff and other
businesses which compete with the defendant for office
cleaning service accounts because it underbid its
competitors. Pending is the defendant’s motion to dismiss
[Document # 11].

The complaint alleges that the defendant’s hiring
practices constitute a violation of Section 274 of the
Immigration and Nationality Act (“INA”), codified as 8
U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3)(A)3 which provides: “Any person
who, during any twelve month period, knowingly hires
for employment at least 10 individuals with actual
knowledge that the individuals are aliens .... shall be fined
under Title 18, or imprisoned for not more than 5 years or
both.” The complaint accurately alleges that 8 U.S.C. §
1324(a) is a predicate act within the meaning of RICO, 18
U.S.C. § 1961(1)(F). The complaint purports to allege a
pattern of racketeering activity by stating that the
defendant has participated in the affairs of the enterprise
through over 100 acts of violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)
in every 12 month period since that provision became a
RICO predicate offense.4
3

Background1
1

For the purpose of deciding the motion to dismiss, the
facts alleged in the complaint are deemed to be true.
See Discussion § 1, infra.

Other than the defendant, the complaint does not
specifically identify any of the alleged members of the
enterprise. The plaintiff, in the complaint, requests time
to conduct discovery concerning the identities of the
members.

In the complaint the plaintiff has cited to a violation of
8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(1)(B)(3)(A), but no such statutory
provision exists. The language quoted in the complaint
and set forth above is contained in 8 U.S.C. §
1324(a)(3)(A). Accordingly, it is assumed that is the
section which the plaintiff has alleged as the RICO
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On April 24, 1996, as part of the Antiterrorism and
Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996, Pub L. 104–132 §
433 amended RICO to make 8 U.S.C. Section 1324 and
related violations RICO predicate offenses.

The defendant has moved to dismiss the complaint for a
variety of reasons. The Court concludes that dismissal of
the complaint is warranted because (1) the plaintiff does
not have standing to bring this action and, as a separate
basis for dismissal, (2) the plaintiff has failed to comply
with this Court’s Standing Order in Civil RICO cases. For
these reasons, the defendant’s motion is GRANTED.

Discussion
I. Rule 12(b)(6) Standard
*2 In deciding a motion to dismiss pursuant to
Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), a court must construe in favor of
the pleader any well-pleaded allegations in the complaint.
Finnegan v. Campeau Corp., 915 F.2d 824, 826 (2d
Cir.1990); see also In Re Hunter Environmental Services,
Inc., 921 F.Supp. 914, 917 (D.Conn.1996). The issue on a
motion to dismiss is not whether the nonmoving party
will prevail, but whether he is entitled to offer evidence to
support his claims. United States v. Yale New Haven
Hosp., 727 F.Supp. 784, 786 (D.Conn.1990) (citing
Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 40
L.Ed.2d 90 (1974)). However, “[A] motion to dismiss
must be granted if the pleadings fail to adequately allege
the elements of the claim on which the plaintiff’s theory
of liability rest.” Stern v. General Electric co., 924 F.2d
472, 476 (2d Cir.1991). A court may dismiss the
complaint only where “it appears beyond doubt that the
pleader can prove no set of facts in support of the claim
which would entitle him to relief.” Yale New Haven Hosp.,
727 F.Supp. at 786 (quoting Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S.
41, 45–46, 78 S.Ct. 99, 2 L.Ed.2d 80 (1957). “In
determining the adequacy of a claim under Rule 12(b)(6),
consideration is limited to facts stated on the face of the
complaint, in documents appended to the complaint or
incorporated in the complaint by reference, and to matters
of which judicial notice may be taken.” Allen v.
Westpoint–Pepperell, Inc., 945 F.2d 40, 44 (2d Cir.1991).

business interests have been injured by the activities of a
racketeering enterprise. 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). See also
Medgar Evers House Tenants Association v. Medgar
Evers Houses Associates, L.P., 25 F.Supp.2d 116, 120
(E.D.N.Y.1998) (citing 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a)-(d)), aff’d
sub nom, Abbott v. Medgar Evers Houses Associates, L.P.,
201 F.3d 430 (2d Cir.1999), petition for cert. filed, (U.S.
Feb. 14, 2000) (No. 99–1367). A RICO claim requires
that the defendant used funds derived from a pattern of
racketeering activity to invest in an enterprise, acquired
control of an enterprise through a pattern of racketeering
activity, or conducted the affairs of an enterprise through
a pattern of racketeering activity, or conspired to do any
of those activities. See 18 U.S .C. § 1962(a)-(d). See also
Medgar Evers Houses Tenants Association, 25 F.Supp.2d
at 120.
A pattern of racketeering activity requires, inter alia, at
least two predicate acts of racketeering activity. See 18
U.S .C. § 1961(5). See also Medgar Evers Houses
Tenants Association, 25 F.Supp.2d at 120. Certain
criminal acts and violations of federal law are defined as
“racketeering activity” in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1). As
mentioned above, Section 1961(1)(F) provides that a
violation of Section 274 of the INA (relating to bringing
in or harboring certain aliens, as codified at 8 U.S.C. §
1324) constitutes a predicate offense under RICO.
*3 The plaintiff alleges the predicate offenses in this
action as multiple violations of 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3). In
order to allege a violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3), the
plaintiff must allege that the defendant: (1) knowingly
hired at least 10 individuals during any twelve month
period of time whom it knew (2) were unauthorized aliens
and (3) had been brought into, transported within,
concealed within, or encouraged to enter this country, as
described in § 1324(a) See 8 U.S.C. § 1324(a)(3).5
5

Section 1324(a) makes it unlawful to (1) bring or
attempt to bring an alien into the United States at any
place other than a designated port of entry; or (2)
transport, move, or attempt to transport or move such
alien within the United States knowing or in reckless
disregard of the fact that an alien has come to, entered,
or remains in the United States illegally; or (3) conceal,
harbor, or shield from detection, or attempt to conceal,
harbor, or shield from detection, an alien in any place,
knowing or recklessly disregarding the fact that the
alien has come to, entered, or remains in the United
States illegally; or (4) encourage or induce an alien to
come to, enter, or reside in the United States, knowing
or in recklessly disregarding the fact that such action by
the alien is unlawful; or (5) conspire in or aid and abet
the commission of any of these acts. See 8 U.S.C. §
1324(a)(1).

II. Section 1962 Generally
The RICO statute recognizes a private civil cause of
action for those individuals or entities whose property or
2
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III. RICO Standing
A. Generally
A threshold consideration is whether the plaintiff has
standing to bring the RICO cause of action. In order to
have standing, the plaintiff must satisfy three pleading
requirements: (1) a violation of section 1962; (2) injury to
business or property; and (3) causation of the injury by
the violation. First Nationwide Bank v. Gelt Funding
Corp., 27 F.3d 763, 767 (2d Cir.1994) (citing Hecht v.
Commerce Clearing House, Inc., 897 F.2d 21, 23 (2d
Cir.1990)). With respect to the causation requirement, a
RICO plaintiff lacks standing absent a direct relationship
between the injury alleged and the predicate RICO
offense. See First Nationwide Bank, 27 F.3d at 769. Put
differently, the defendant’s alleged RICO violation must
be the “but-for” or cause-in-fact of plaintiff’s injury, as
well as the legal or proximate cause. Holmes v. Securities
Investor Protection Corp., 503 U.S. 258, 268, 112 S.Ct.
1311, 117 L.Ed.2d 532 (1992); Laborers Local 17 Health
and Welfare Benefit Fund v. Phillip Morris, Inc., 191 F.3d
229, 234 (2d Cir.1999); Standardbred Owners Ass’n v.
Roosevelt Raceway Assocs., 985 F.2d 102, 104 (2d
Cir.1993)); Hecht, 897 F.2d at 23.6 Failure to adequately
allege that the defendant’s RICO predicate acts
proximately caused plaintiff’s injury is a defect of
pleading and is ground for dismissal at the pleading stage.
See First Nationwide, 27 F.3d at 769.
6

The district court in Medgar Evers Houses Associates
examined the impact of the Supreme Court’s decision
in Holmes on RICO causation case law in the Second
Circuit. See Id., 25 F .Supp.2d at 122–124.

B. The Holmes Direct Relation Requirement for RICO
Standing
As indicated, one of the requirements under the U.S.
Supreme Court’s decision in Holmes is that the RICO
predicate acts be the proximate cause of the injury
complained of by the plaintiff. Holmes described this
proximate cause requirement as requiring a “direct
relation between the injury asserted and the injurious
conduct alleged.” In re American Express Co.
Shareholder Litig., 39 F.3d 395, 399 (2d Cir.1994) (citing
Holmes, 503 U.S. at 268). This “direct relation”
requirement precludes recovery by a party who simply
complains of injury “which flows from the misfortunes
visited upon a third person by the defendant’s acts”. Id.
The Holmes Court “concluded that in the civil RICO
context, justice demands that a plaintiff demonstrate a
direct relationship between the injury asserted and the
RICO violation.” Medgar Evers House Tenants
Association v. Medgar Evers Houses Associates, L.P., 25
F.Supp.2d 116, 121 (E.D.N.Y.1998).

*4 The Supreme Court in Holmes gave three reasons for
the direct relation requirement. “First, the less direct an
injury is, the more difficult it becomes to ascertain the
amount of a plaintiff’s damages attributable to the
violation, as distinct from other, independent, factors.”
Holmes, 503 U.S. at 269 (citation omitted); see also
Medgar Evers Houses Associates, 25 F.Supp.2d at 121.
Second, extending the private RICO claim to indirectly
injured parties would result in courts having to formulate
complicated rules apportioning damages among the
different levels of injured parties in order to avoid the risk
of multiple recoveries. See Holmes, 503 U.S. at 269
(citations omitted); see also Medgar Evers Houses
Associates, 25 F.Supp.2d at 121. Finally, there is no need
to address these complex issues, because the
directly-injured party can bring the action and that
generally serves the deterrent purpose of the private civil
action. See Holmes, 503 U.S. at 269–70 (citation omitted);
see also Medgar Evers Houses Associates, 25 F.Supp.2d
at 121.
A number of district courts have applied the “direct
relation” test in dismissing RICO causes of action where
the plaintiff bases the claim on an illegal course of
conduct by a defendant designed to avoid compliance
with federal law, which results in an injury to the plaintiff.
For example, in Medgar Evers Houses Associates, supra,
the tenants of a New York City housing project brought a
RICO claim against the owners of the project and the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development
(“HUD”).7 The tenants claimed that the owners had made
a series of false and misleading statements to HUD
concerning the upkeep and condition of the housing
project. The tenants claimed that HUD was misled about
the condition of the housing project. As a result, the
owners continued to receive rent subsidy payments and
were not compelled by HUD to improve the project. The
district court, however, concluded that the plaintiffs did
not have standing to bring a RICO cause of action against
the owners of the housing project based on the false
statements to HUD and dismissed the complaint. The
district court found the following important: (1) none of
the statements were made to the plaintiffs, but to HUD; (2)
the fact finder would be required to determine whether the
complained-of conditions were the result of the false
statements or were the result of other factors (such as the
defendant’s poor management of the housing project);
and, (3) the court need not resolve these questions
because HUD could deter the fraudulent activities. Id.
121–122.
7

HUD was only named as a nominal defendant from
which no relief was sought. See Medgar Evers Houses
Associates, 25 F.Supp.2d at 119.

Similarly, in Barr Laboratories, Inc. v. Quantum
3
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Pharmics, Inc., 827 F.Supp. 111 (S.D.N.Y.1993), the
plaintiff drug manufacturer brought an action against one
of its competitors when it learned it had filed false
applications with the Food and Drug Administration
(“FDA”). The plaintiff alleged that the defendant filed
these applications to obtain FDA approval to market
certain drugs. The plaintiff claimed that the defendant
violated RICO by committing predicate acts of mail and
wire fraud when it submitted the false applications to the
FDA. The plaintiff sought damages to compensate it for
the sales lost by virtue of the defendant marketing the
fraudulently-approved drugs. The district court dismissed
the RICO claim, reasoning that the plaintiff’s losses were
too remote because they did not stem directly from the
false applications filed with the FDA. Barr Laboratories,
Inc., 827 F.Supp. at 116. The district court concluded that
the losses depended upon the intervening actions by the
FDA and the competitor’s customers; the FDA had the
discretion to issue the drug approval and the competitor’s
customers could choose whether they wished to purchase
the drugs or those of another competitor. Id. Thus, the
plaintiff’s claim of injury was “indirect.” Id.
*5 Finally, in Kingston Square Tenants Association v.
Tuskegee Gardens, Ltd., 792 F.Supp. 1566 (S.D.Fla.1992),
the plaintiff tenant association brought a RICO cause of
action against the owners and managers of its housing
complex. Like in Medgar Evers Houses Associates, the
association alleged that the defendants had violated RICO
by submitting multiple false applications for HUD funds
in which they stated that the units in the complex were in
a good condition. The HUD funds were then used for
purposes other than the repair and maintenance of the
complex and, as a result, the complex fell into a state of
disrepair. The district court reasoned that HUD, not the
association members, was the target of the defendants’
illegal conduct and the association members only suffered
indirectly from the conduct. As such, the district court
concluded HUD was the proper party to seek relief. See
Id., 792 F.Supp. at 1578.

C. The Instant Case
In the instant case, the plaintiff has not alleged facts
sufficient to establish its standing to bring an action based
on the claimed RICO violations. The injury it
alleges—lost revenue—does not bear a direct relation to
the predicate acts by the defendants. As in Holmes,
Medgar Evers Houses Associates, Barr Laboratories, Inc.,
and Kingston Square Tenants Association, the complaint
in the instant case fails to sufficiently allege the required
causation.
The complaint alleges that the defendant has committed
predicate offenses of multiple violations of 8 U.S.C. §
1324(a) through the operation of the illegal immigrant
hiring scheme. The complaint alleges the following

causation chain: defendant hires illegal immigrants at a
reduced rate of pay; which also enables it to avoid paying
federal and state taxes, workers’ compensation insurance,
and other costs for these employees; which enable it to
make lower bids than the plaintiff and other competitors
for office cleaning contracts; which results in it obtaining
a larger market share of the cleaning business and
ultimately prevents the plaintiff from obtaining more
business.
Assuming the allegations are true, the commission of the
predicate offenses by the defendant does not directly
injure the plaintiff. Rather, the predicate offenses are
aimed at avoiding compliance with the immigration laws
and detection of those activities by the INS. Additionally,
the fact finder would be required to determine whether the
plaintiff obtained a reduced market share of the office
cleaning contracts because of the alleged “illegal
immigrant hiring scheme” or because of other factors,
such as: (1) the comparative quality of the services
provided by the plaintiff and the defendant; (2) the
comparative business reputations of the plaintiff and the
defendant; (3) the fluctuations in the demand for such
services; and, (4) a myriad of other reasons for selecting
one cleaning company over another. It would also be
extremely difficult to determine whether the plaintiff lost
business opportunities or whether another office cleaning
business was harmed. In other words, even if the
defendant should not have received the contract, in many
instances it would be speculative to choose which
competitor the potential customer would have selected.
Additionally, assuming the fact finder could make these
difficult determinations, the calculation of damages
directly attributable to the illegal immigrant hiring
scheme would be daunting, if not impossible.
*6 Finally, as recognized in Holmes, Medgar Evers
Houses Associates, Barr Laboratories, Inc., and Kingston
Square Tenants Association, if the defendant is violating
the INA, it is the INS which bears the primary
responsibility to deter those activities. This conclusion is
consistent with other decisions which hold that there is no
recognized private cause of action under the INA and the
civil and criminal enforcement of the provisions of the
statute is appropriately left to the INS. See Nieto–Santos v.
Fletcher Farms, 743 F.2d 638, 641 (9th Cir.1984) (no
private right of action under the INA); Lopez v.
Arrowhead Ranches, 523 F.2d 924, 926 (9th Cir.1975) (8
U.S.C. § 1324 is a penal provision and creates no private
right of action); Flores v. George Braun Packing Co. Div.
of Leonard & Harral Packing Co., 482 F.2d 279, 280 (5th
Cir.1973)(per curiam) (holding that various provisions of
the INA, including 8 U.S.C. § 1324, did not create a
private right of action against employers who hired illegal
aliens); Chavez v. Freshpict Foods, Inc., 456 F.2d 890,
893–894 (10th Cir.1972), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1112
(1973) (same); Mate v. Richard Dattner Architects, 972
F.Supp. 738, 742 (S.D.N.Y.1997) (citizen “has no
4
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standing to assert a claim under the INA because the
statute does not create a private right of action to redress a
violation that results when an employer submits false
information or illegally hires an alien when domestic
workers are available”); Collyard v. Washington Capitals,
477 F.Supp. 1247, 1254 (D.Minn.1979) (INA does not
create a private right of action); Dowling v. United States,
476 F.Supp. 1018, 1020–1021 (D.Mass.1979) (same); see
also 8 U.S.C. § 1329 (“The district courts of the United
States shall have jurisdiction of all causes, civil and
criminal, brought by the United States that arise under the
provisions of this subchapter.”)8 The INA does not
explicitly provide for a private right of action nor does it
impliedly create a private right of action. See United
States v. Richard Dattner Architects, 972 F.Supp. 738,
742–743 (S.D.N.Y.1997).
8

The term “this subchapter” is a reference to subchapter
II of Title 8 which includes sections 1151 through
1378.

nation”); it fails to explain how each individual victim
was injured (instead, it merely refers back to the general
allegations of the complaint); and, it fails to set forth the
names of the individuals, partnerships, corporations,
associations, and other legal entities which allegedly
constitute the RICO enterprise (the plaintiff provides the
following response to that provision of the Standing Order:
“The association-in-fact enterprise, as alleged in
paragraph 30 of the complaint, is a group of labor
contractors, placement services, employment recruiters
and immigrant networks that actively assist Colin in
locating and employing illegal immigrants.”).
Although the Court is reluctant to dismiss a RICO case
because of a plaintiff’s mere failure to comply with all
aspects of the Standing Order, in the instant case the
Court concludes that the plaintiff’s degree of failure to
comply with the Standing Order warrants dismissal. The
purpose of the Standing Order—to give to the defendant
the basic factual information which underlies the RICO
claim—is so grievously violated here to warrant dismissal
of the complaint on that basis as well.

For these reasons, the Court concludes that the plaintiff
lacks standing to bring this action. Accordingly, the
motion to dismiss is granted on that basis.
Conclusion
IV. Non–Compliance with the Standing Order in Civil
RICO Cases
The Standing Order in Civil RICO cases for the United
States District Court for the District of Connecticut (“the
Standing Order”) provides “In all civil actions where the
complaint contains a cause of action pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Sections 1961–1968 the plaintiff shall file a RICO Case
Statement (“the statement”) within twenty (20) days of
filing the complaint.” The Standing Order requires that
the plaintiff provide the Court and the defendant with a
statement setting forth particular information about the
nature and elements of its claimed RICO violation. A
RICO case statement is designed to be read together with
the complaint and to supplement the allegations contained
in the complaint. See e.g. McLaughlin v. Anderson, 962
F.2d 187, 189 (2d Cir.1992). In the instant case, the RICO
case statement filed by the plaintiff merely recounts the
general allegations contained in the complaint.
*7 The statement in the instant case is insufficiently
detailed in several important areas. A few examples: the
plaintiff fails to identity of the alleged wrongdoers, other
than the defendant; it fails to set forth the alleged
misconduct of each alleged wrongdoer; it fails to set forth
the identity of the alleged victims and the manner in
which each victim was allegedly injured (instead, the
plaintiff generally responds to this provision by stating:
“As stated in paragraphs 6, 11 and 12 of the complaint,
the victims are Colin’s competitors throughout the

The defendant’s Motion to Dismiss [Document # 11] is
GRANTED. The Court recognizes that when a motion to
dismiss is granted, it may grant leave to amend the
complaint. See Hayden v. County of Nassau, 180 F.3d 42,
53 (2d Cir.1999) (citing Ronzani v. Sanofi S.A., 899 F.2d
195, 198 (2d Cir.1990)). However, “where it appears that
granting leave to amend is unlikely to be productive, it is
not an abuse of discretion to deny leave to amend.”
Yerdon v. Henry, 91 F.3d 370, 378 (2d Cir.1996) (citing
Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S.Ct. 227, 9
L.Ed.2d 222 (1962); see also Hayden, 180 F.3d at 53–54
(citing Pani v. Empire Blue Cross Blue Shield, 152 F.3d
67, 76 (2d Cir.1998), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1103, 119
S.Ct. 868, 142 L.Ed.2d 770 (1999). In a RICO case, upon
granting a motion to dismiss leave to amend may be
denied where it appears that the plaintiff lacks standing to
bring the action. See Manson v.. Stacescu, 11 F.3d 1127,
1133 (2d Cir.1993), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 915, 115 S.Ct.
292, 130 L.Ed.2d 206 (1994).
In the instant case, one of the bases for granting the
defendant’s motion to dismiss is the Court’s conclusion
that the plaintiff does not have standing to bring this
action. A review of the plaintiff’s complaint, RICO case
statement and the papers filed in opposition to the motion
fails to reveal any factual matters which, if plead in an
amended complaint, would cure that deficiency.
*8 Accordingly, the complaint is dismissed and the Clerk
is ordered to close this case.
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